015

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED
SID J. WHITE
JAM 1 1994
CLERK, SUPREME COURT
Chief Deputy Clark

James W. Cox,

Petitioner,

v.

Delores Dry, District Administrator, District 8, Florida Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services,

Respondent.

CASE NO.: 82,967

PETITIONER'S JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF

On Review from the District Court of Appeal, Second District State of Florida

NINA E. VINIK
American Civil Liberties Union
Foundation of Florida, Inc.
225 N.E. 34 Street Suite 102
Miami, FL 33137
(305) 576-2337
Florida Bar No.: 909882

DORIS BUNNELL 406-B 13th Street West Bradenton, FL 34205 (813) 748-1227 Florida Bar. No.: 793140

Attorneys for the Petitioner

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner James W. Cox filed this action in the Circuit Court in and for Sarasota County, challenging the constitutionality under the Florida Constitution of § 63.042(3), Fla. Stat., which provides that "No person eligible to adopt under this statute may adopt if that person is a homosexual." Cox was advised by Florida's Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services that he would not be considered as an adoptive parent in the state of Florida because he is a homosexual. The circuit court considered the undisputed facts as alleged by plaintiffs2 in their Complaint and admitted by HRS in its Answer, as well as other factual matters admitted into evidence in written form upon the stipulation of both sides. Based on this evidence, the trial court found that the statute violated plaintiffs' rights to privacy, equal protection and due process, all as guaranteed by the Florida Constitution.3

On March 31, 1993, HRS filed an appeal to the Second District Court of Appeal to review the trial court's decision. HRS also filed a Suggestion for Certification to the Supreme

The defendant/respondent is Delores Dry, District Administrator for District 8 of Florida's Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services, which includes the Sarasota HRS office where Cox attempted to apply to become an adoptive parent. Defendant/respondent will be referred to herein as "HRS".

Rodney M. Jackman also sued as a co-plaintiff. He is not a petitioner herein.

The circuit court in Monroe County also struck down § 63.042(3) as unconstitutional under the Florida Constitution. Seebol v. Farie, 16 Fla. L. Weekly C52 (16th Cir. Ct. 1991). HRS did not appeal that decision.

Court, with which plaintiffs concurred. The district court denied the suggestion for certification, and on its own motion determined to hear the appeal en banc.

The district court heard oral argument on September 9, 1993, and on December 1, 1993, reversed the order of the trial court and expressly upheld the constitutionality of section 63.042(3), Fla. Stat. The district court disapproved of the parties' stipulation to the admission of various factual matters in the trial court, and found that "the trial court did not have a record to support summary judgment in favor of the plaintiffs on any issue." Despite its view of the limited nature of the record, the district court went on to consider the merits of the appeal, and rejected petitioner's claims under the Florida Constitution's right to privacy, equal protection and due process provisions. In this case of first impression, the district court construed each of these provisions adverse to the plaintiffs.

The petitioner's notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court was timely filed on December 29, 1993.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This case falls squarely within the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court. First, the district court expressly upheld § 63.042(3), Fla. Stat., which prohibits any person in Florida from adopting if that person is a homosexual. Moreover,

A copy of the district court's opinion is attached as Exhibit A. It is reported at 18 Fla. L. Weekly D2551. All citations herein to the district court's opinion will be indicated as "Exhibit A at __". The trial court's Final Judgment is attached as Exhibit B.

the district court expressly construed Art. I, §§ 2, 9 and 23, Fla. Const., when it rejected's petitioner's claims.

This Court should exercise its discretionary jurisdiction in this case. The district court's concern about the trial court record is unfounded, and does not provide a basis for this Court to refuse jurisdiction. The record is clear that the parties stipulated to the admission into evidence of various written materials in lieu of live testimony. The district court's disapproval of this procedure does not justify its substitution of its own judgment of the evidence for the trial court's. Indeed, the district court went even further by relying on its own unsupported assumptions to justify reversal.

This Court should review this decision because it raises questions of fundamental importance regarding individual rights of Florida's citizens. The errors committed by the district court leave countless Floridians uncertain about whether and to what extent their rights are protected by this State's constitution. Petitioner urges this Court to clear up this uncertainty.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review a decision of a district court of appeal that (i) expressly declares valid a state statute; and (2) expressly construes a provision of the state constitution. Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const.; Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(i) and (ii). In this case, the district court expressly declared valid § 63.042(3),

Fla. Stat., and expressly construed Art. I, §§ 2, 9 and 23, Fla. Const.⁵

ARGUMENT

I. THIS COURT HAS DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION TO REVIEW THE DISTRICT COURT'S DECISION BECAUSE IT EXPRESSLY UPHOLDS A STATE STATUTE.

Plaintiffs filed this action challenging § 63.042(3), Fla. Stat., both on its face and as applied, under the Florida Constitution. When the Second District Court of Appeal reversed the lower court's decision, it expressly declared valid the challenged statute. See, e.g., Exhibit A at 26 n.11 As such, this case is squarely within the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court. See, e.g., Raffield v. State, 565 So. 2d 704 (Fla. 1990), cert. denied, 498 U.S. 1025, 111 S. Ct. 674, 112 L. Ed. 2d 666 (1991); Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Florida, Inc. v. Matthews, 498 So. 2d 421 (Fla. 1986); Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const.; Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(i).

II. THIS COURT HAS DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION TO REVIEW THE DISTRICT COURT'S DECISION BECAUSE IT EXPRESSLY CONSTRUES THREE PROVISIONS OF THE STATE CONSTITUTION.

Plaintiffs challenged § 63.042(3), Fla. Stat., under Article I, sections 2, 9 and 23 of the Florida Constitution. Plaintiffs did not raise any federal constitutional claims. In

This Court also has jurisdiction pursuant to Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const., and Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), to review this case because the district court's decision conflicts with this Court's prior cases interpreting Florida's constitutional right to privacy. See, e.g., Public Health Trust v. Wons, 541 So. 2d 96 (Fla. 1989); In re: T.W., 551 So. 2d 1186 (Fla. 1989); Winfield v. Div. of Pari-Mutuel Wagering, 477 So. 2d 544 (Fla. 1985).

rejecting plaintiffs' claims, the district court expressly construed each of these state constitutional provisions. First, the district court found that an individual's sexual orientation does not fall within the realm of interests protected by Florida's right to privacy. Exhibit A at 12-16. Second, the court concluded that Florida's right to due process does not encompass sexual orientation or the decision to apply to become an adoptive parent. Exhibit A at 16-19. Third, the district court construed Florida's equal protection provision, Art. I, § 2, Fla. Const., and its rational basis test, as being satisfied so long as "any reasonably conceivable state of facts . . . could provide a rational basis for the classification." Exhibit A at 24 (quoting Heller v. Doe by Doe, U.S. , 113 S. Ct. 2637, 2643, L. Ed. 2d (1993)). Therefore, this case falls within the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court. See, e.g., Laborers' Intern., Local 478 v. Burroughs, 541 So. 2d 1160 (Fla. 1989) (jurisdiction exists where DCA rejected contention that county board was exercising judicial power prohibited under Art. V, § 1, Fla. Const.); Matthews, 498 So. 2d 421 (jurisdiction conferred where DCA upheld statute against access to court and equal protection challenges).

- III. THIS COURT SHOULD EXERCISE ITS DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION TO HEAR THIS CASE.
 - A. The District Court's Perceived "Problem" with the Trial

The district court also implicitly construed Florida's due process and equal protection guarantees to be coextensive with the corresponding federal constitutional guarantees. Exhibit A at 16-26.

Court Record is Misplaced, and should not Bar this Court from Exercising its Jurisdiction.

Before going on to rule on the merits of plaintiffs' claims, the district court described what it perceived to be a "problem of methodology" arising from the trial court proceedings:

The trial court's opinion discusses the plaintiffs' "unrebutted and overwhelming evidence" establishing that homosexuals have normal abilities to rear children. In truth, there is virtually no evidence in the record. The parties merely submitted copies of law review articles and other reports in magazines and journals.

Exhibit A at 5 (emphasis in original). The district court disapproved of this procedure, which it termed "trial by photocopy." <u>Id</u>. at 7. Despite this disapproval, the record is clear that

the parties stipulated that the case would be resolved without the necessity of an evidentiary hearing, as follows: That each side would submit a brief arguing matters of law and citing appropriate cases. addition, each side would attach to its brief any scientific data or research it desired and would likewise include this material in its argument. Each party would (and has) stipulated to waive objections of authenticity, relevancy, competency and lack of predicate or foundation as to each article submitted. The Court would then consider and weigh such data and research as if presented in person by the authors and researchers of the articles and papers.

Exhibit B at 2 n.1.

The district court was without authority to reject this evidence out of hand, simply because it disliked the procedure agreed to by the parties. "First, it is not the function of an

appellate court to reevaluate the evidence and substitute its judgment for that of the jury." Helman v. Seaboard Coast Line R. Co., 349 So. 2d 1187, 1189 (Fla. 1977). "Second, if there is any competent evidence to support a verdict, that verdict must be sustained regardless of the District Court's opinion as to its appropriateness." <u>Id</u>. These principles hold true when findings of fact are made by the trial court; they are entitled to the same weight as a jury verdict. Marsh v. Marsh, 419 So. 2d 629, 630 (Fla. 1982). The district court had no authority to substitute its judgment for that of the trier of fact. Horatio Enterprises, Inc. v. Rabin, 614 So. 2d 555 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993); Plaza Builders, Inc. v. Regis, 502 So. 2d 918 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987); Williams v. Dolphin Reef, Ltd., 455 So. 2d 640 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984). "It is not the prerogative of an appellate court, upon a de novo consideration of the record, to substitute its judgment for that of the trial court." Shaw v. Shaw, 334 So. 2d 13, 16 (Fla. 1976); Brandenburg Investment Corporation v. Farrell Realty, Inc., 463 So. 2d 558, 560 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985). district court's rejection of the trial court's findings based on the evidence in the record, and of the parties' stipulation to admission of that evidence, was clearly error.

Not only did the district court exceed its authority by rejecting the evidence introduced by the parties, it also relied on its own wholly unsupported assumptions to justify reversal of the trial court's judgment. For example, in finding that the statute survived rational basis review, the district court

concluded that "[g]iven that adopted children tend to have some developmental problems arising from adoption or from their experience prior to adoption, it is perhaps more important for adopted children than other children to have a stable heterosexual household during puberty and the teenage years." Exhibit A at 25.7 This series of assumptions, on which the district court relied in upholding the statute, has absolutely no basis in the record.

In short, the district court's concern about the trial court record was both unfounded and erroneous. The district court exceeded the scope of its appellate authority by substituting its view of the record and its unsubstantiated assumptions for the considered judgment of the trial court. At a minimum, if the district court legitimately viewed the record as insufficient to support summary judgment for the plaintiffs, its proper course should have been to reverse the trial court's judgment and remand for trial of the disputed issues of fact.

B. This Court Should Accept Jurisdiction and Review the Merits of this Challenge.

This case raises questions of the utmost importance which can and should now be settled by this Court. Courts across the state are looking to this Court and this case to provide

The district court made this assumption pursuant to its application of the rational basis test: "If there is 'any reasonably conceivable state of facts that could provide a rational basis for the classification,' the courts must defer to the legislature." Exhibit A at 24 (quoting Heller v. Doe by Doe, 113 S. Ct. at 2642). Indeed, the district court's assumption is based on no "state of facts" whatsoever.

guidance on these questions of first impression.8

The district court's decision fails to settle these questions because:

- (1) as explained above, it erroneously substitutes its judgment and unproven assumptions in place of the facts as found by the trial court;
- (2) it improperly rejects petitioner's vagueness challenge by conceiving a definition of the statutory term "homosexual" with no basis in the text of the statute or its legislative history;
- (3) it fails to give due consideration to Florida's constitutional provisions using the primacy approach dictated by this Court in <u>Traylor v. State</u>, 596 So. 2d 957 (Fla. 1992). Instead, the district applied a purely federal constitutional analysis to petitioner's claims under Florida's equal protection and due process provisions;
- (4) it misconstrues petitioner's argument based on Florida's constitutional guarantee of the right to privacy. The district court mistakenly analyzed this case as involving an "unwarranted governmental inquiry concerning private matters". Exhibit A at 14. It summarily rejected the crux of petitioner's privacy claim -- that his sexual orientation is within the zone of personal autonomy interests guarded by the right to privacy

Petitioner knows of at least one other case that also challenges the constitutionality of § 63.042(3), Fla. Stat., in which the court and the parties are awaiting a final decision in the instant case. See Amer v. Johnson, et al., case no. 92-14370 (17th Cir. Ct., Broward County) filed May 28, 1992.

from governmental interference.

These are among the errors petitioner hopes this Court will correct by exercising its discretionary jurisdiction to hear this case. Petitioner does not seek an unqualified right to adopt. Rather, he seeks the right to be considered on the same terms as every other prospective adoptive parent in Florida — that is, with the best interests of a particular adoptive child in mind. Florida's ban on all adoptions by homosexuals is outdated, irrational, and based on unfounded fears and prejudices toward lesbians and gay men. It violates petitioner's rights to privacy, equal protection and due process, all as guaranteed by the Florida Constitution.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, petitioner James W. Cox respectfully requests that this Court exercise its discretionary jurisdiction to hear this case.