IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE EB 2 1994 CLERK, SUPREME COURT By______ Chief Deputy Clerk

CASE NO: 82,967

JAMES W. COX,

Petitioner,

v.

DELORES DRY, DISTRICT ADMINISTRATOR, DISTRICT 8, STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND REHABILITATIVE SERVICES,

Respondent.

ON REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND DISTRICT STATE OF FLORIDA

JURISDICTIONAL ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ANTHONY N. DeLUCCIA, JR. Florida Bar #216569 District Legal Counsel STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND REHABILITATIVE SERVICES Post Office Box 60085 Fort Myers, Florida 33906 (813) 338-1427

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS AREAS OF DISAGREEMENT

The district court declared the statute (Section 63.042(3)) valid with respect to the constitutional challenge under the right of privacy.

The district court did not disapprove of the stipulation by the parties to the admission of factual matters at trial. However, it seriously questioned the procedure suggested by the trial court regarding constitutionality of a statute. Exhibit A, p.4. Then pursuant to its jurisdiction to completely determine the issues raised, it examined the record and applied the law to the issues presented.

Regarding the constitutional issues of equal protection and vagueness, the district court held that these are issues of mixed law and fact. Exhibit A, p.4. When a constitutional issue involves a mixed question of law and fact, in absence of prima facie evidence the party with the burden of proof cannot prevail. Exhibit A, p.4. The district court was troubled by the trial court's evaluation of the evidence as "unrebutted and overwhelming" establishing that homosexuals have normal abilities to rear children. Exhibit A, p.5. The evidence submitted consisted of law review articles, reports in magazines and journals, and two scientific articles. Exhibit A, p.5. No credentials concerning the authors were found. Exhibit A, p.6. The subject matter of one scientific article focused on natural children of homosexuals, not about children adopted by homosexuals. The other article likewise did not focus on children adopted by homosexuals, but described an anonymous survey of twenty-three homosexual parents and sixteen heterosexual parents located in New Mexico. Exhibit A, pp. 5, 6. Because these articles contained data that neither the trial court nor the district court has the training and expertise necessary to evaluate and apply to the facts, and since no expert witnesses were called to discuss or explain these reports, the trial court did not have a record to support summary judgment on the issues in favor of the Petitioner. Exhibit A, p.7.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court of appeal clearly acknowledged that this court has discretionary jurisdiction to review this matter because it expressly declares valid Section 63.042(3), Florida Statutes.

This court does not have discretionary review jurisdiction because the district court applied constitutional provision to arrive at its decision. For purposes of determining discretionary review, application is different from construction of a constitutional provision.

It is clear that the decision below does not end the debate regarding the issue of homosexuality and adoption. As the record reveals other states do permit homosexuals to adopt children. Perhaps, evidence of the effects of such adoptions viewed in light of the best interest of the child adopted should be reviewed before rendering a decision on the issue. However, as the district court stated in denying certification of this issue for review, the record herein is too limited to resolve these issues.

Further, it is submitted that the proper branch to deal with these issues is the legislature. Section 63.042(3), Florida Statutes, was enacted in 1977. It is the province of the legislature to determine whether it is in the best interest of children to be adopted by homosexuals. Exhibit A, fn. p.26.

<u>ISSUE I</u>

The Supreme Court Has Discretionary Jurisdiction To Review The District Court of Appeal Decision Because It Expressly Declares Valid A State Statute

It is clearly acknowledged that the Supreme Court has the discretionary jurisdiction to review this decision. Footnote number eleven of the opinion clearly states this fact.

<u>ISSUE II</u>

The Supreme Court Does Not Have Discretionary Jurisdiction To Review The District Court Of Appeal Decision Because It Does Not Construe Any Provision Of The State Constitution

The district court was concerned by the trial court's insertion of a constitutional due process issue regarding statutory vagueness the parties did choose to litigate. Exhibit A, **p.8.** This was especially troubling to the district court because the petitioners never alleged that they found the term "homosexual" to be unconstitutionally vague. Exhibit A, **p.8.**

The district court defined the term "homosexual" as used in Section 63.042, Florida Statute, to apply to applicants who are known to engage in current homosexual activity. **Exhibit A, p.10.** It concluded that the legislature had not created a rule concerning a person's thoughts but rather a person's conduct. **Exhibit A, p.10**.

In defining the term "homosexual" the court applied the statutory construction of the statute by an agency charged with its administration. Exhibit A, p.9.

The district court recognized that the issue of orientation and activity is one upon which reasonable minds can differ on a scientific, moral, religious and legal basis. Because of the circumstances, it is the province of the legislature to reach its own conclusions regarding the orientation/activity issue without judicial mandate. Exhibit A, p.9.

Once the district court defined the term homosexual, it applied the judicially developed rules concerning right to privacy to the facts contained in the record to render its

decision. "Applying" a constitutional provision is not synonymous with "construing" a constitutional provision and the former is not a basis for supreme court direct appeals jurisdiction. Rojas v. State, 288 So.2d 234 (FLA 1974) <u>cert den</u>, 419 US 851, 95 S. Ct. 93, 42 L-Ed 2d 82 (1974). "Pursuant to judicial terminology the definition of construing in its constitutional sense requires an opinion which undertakes to explain, define, or eliminate existing doubts arising from the language or terms of the constitutional provision." <u>Ogle v</u>, <u>Pepin</u>, 273 So.2d 391,392 (FLA 1973).

With regard to the right of privacy, the district court held that Section 63.042(3), Florida Statutes, does not implicate the concerns of the right to privacy. The right of privacy has been applied to:

- 1) protect natural persons from public disclosure of personal matters by governments;
- 2) prohibit unwarranted governmental inquiry concerning private matters.
- 3) create a zone of autonomy protecting personal decision making.

The Petitioner has willingly revealed his homosexuality and agrees that HRS may inquire about the sexual conduct of an adoption applicant. Therefore, the "public disclosure of personal matters" and "unwarranted governmental intrusion" rights of privacy are not affected by Section 63.042(3), Florida Statutes. Exhibit A, p.13.

With regard to the zone of autonomy protecting personal decision making, the district court held that there was no intrusion. In its analysis the court stated that adoption is neither a private matter nor a statutory right. Exhibit A, p.14. Rather adoption is a privilege whereby the applicant requests the state to make a decision in the best interest of the prospective adoptive child. Exhibit A, p.14. Section 63.042, Florida Statutes, does not interfere with or limit anyone's private sexual life, it limits one's ability to adopt a child if the state knows that applicant is a homosexual. Exhibit A, p.15. Indirect limitations do not render statutory privileges unconstitutional under the right of privacy.

<u>ISSUE III-A</u>

The Limited Record Below Makes This Matter Inappropriate For Review Of The Constitutional Issues Raised

The Petition argues that the district court relied on wholly unsupported assumptions to justify reversal of the trial court's judgment. A review of the record disputes this argument. First, Petitioner applied to HRS for adoption of a "special needs" child. A "special needs" child is defined to be a child who among other things may possess one or more physical or emotional disabilities and whose custody has been awarded to the department. Section 409.166(2), Florida Statutes (1993). Further, the trial court acknowledged that

[T]here is some evidence to support the notion that midadolescents might not be a good match with a homosexual adoptive parent. Exhibit B, p.9.

Therefore the conclusion of the district court;

[T]hat adoptive children tend to have some developmental problems arising from adoption or from their experiences prior to adoption, it is perhaps more important for adopted children than other children to have a stable heterosexual household during puberty and the teenage years. Exhibit A, p.25.

does clearly have a basis in the record.

Petitioners argue that the district court should have revised and remanded this matter for trial on the disputed issues of fact. However the record reveals that the parties stipulated that the factual issues would be resolved without the necessity of an evidentiary hearing at the trial court's suggestion. Exhibit B, p.2, n.1. Therefore, it is logical to conclude that all the known factual evidence had been submitted by stipulation at trial, and a remand for trial would be fruitless.

The district court merely applied the competent substantial evidence test to set aside the trial court decision, and found that the evidence was insufficiently relevant and material so that a reasonable mind would accept it as adequate to support the conclusion reached. <u>Heifitz v. Department of Business Regulations</u>, 475 So.2d 1277 (FLA 1st DCA 1985).

It is submitted that the application of the competent substantial evidence test is a proper function of an appellate court, and is vastly different from substituting its judgment for that of the trial court.

ISSUE III-B

This Court Should Not Accept Jurisdiction And Review The Merits Of This Challenge

(1) The district court applied the competent substantial evidence test to review the records. The conclusions it reached have a basis in the record below. For the reasons stated earlier, the district court settled the issues.

(2) At trial the Petitioner never raised an issue of vagueness. The trial court raised the issue on its own motion. Exhibit B, p.9, n.7.

Obliged by the judicial principles of statutory construction which requires upholding the statute, and accordance of great weight to the construction used by an agency charged with a statute's administration, the district court accepted the HRS position that the statute applied to homosexual conduct as reasonable. It clearly noted that this decision did not end the debate regarding the sexual orientation/activity issue. However, it recognized that fifteen years have elapsed since the passage of the statute, and that the legislature was the proper branch of government to resolve the orientation/activity issue with judicial mandate. Exhibit A, p.26.

(3) The district court clearly considered the doctrine of primacy in deciding the constitutional issues of equal protection and due process. It was not persuaded that under

Florida's concepts of due process, privacy and equal protection that homosexuality is a fundamental right. Exhibit A, p.19.

(4) The district court did not summarily reject Petitioner's privacy claim that sexual orientation is within the zone of personal autonomy concerning personal decision making. It held that it does not limit anyone's private sexual life. The statute limits a homosexual's eligibility to obtain the privilege to adopt a child. An indirect limitation on a statutory privilege does not violate Florida's right to privacy. Exhibit A, p.15.

CONCLUSION

There is no doubt that this Court may exercise its discretionary jurisdiction because the district court expressly declared Section 63.042(3), Florida Statutes to be valid with regard to the Petitioners constitutional challenge under the right of privacy..

With regard to the district court opinion expressly construing provisions of the state constitution, this court has distinguished the terms "applying" and "construing" when it considers exercise of discretionary review. A review of this opinion clearly shows that the district court applied constitutional principle to arrive at its decision.

It is submitted that the legislature is the proper branch of government to decide whether it is in the best interest of children to be adopted by homosexuals.